IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

BRUCE H. PENTON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2007-CA-02046

CAROL ANNETTE PENTON

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of the Mississippi Supreme Court and the Mississippi Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Bruce H. Penton Appellant
- 2. Carol Annette Penton Appellee
- 3. Bruce H. Penton, II P.O. Box 191 McNeil, MS 39547
- Crystal Darlene Penton P.O. Box 191 McNeil, MS 39547
- 5. Sarah Anne Penton P.O. Box 191 McNeil, MS 39547

i

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. The Chancellor erred by not following the Ferguson Facts when he valued and distributed the marital property

2. The Chancellor erred in the manner in which it valued and distributed the marital property when it did not consider the earning potential of Pine Haven Trail Park, and Crystal Clean Car Care, LLC.

3. The Chancellor erred in the manner and criteria it used to give credits to and deductions from the value of the parties marital interest in the properties and in the manner in which the court determined what effect the above would have on ultimate distribution of the assets.

4. The Chancellor erred in the manner in which it valued and distributed the marital property when it did not consider the lack of debt on Pine Haven Trail Park, and the debt on Crystal Clean Car Care, LLC.

5. The Chancellor erred when he awarded Mrs. Penton all of the personal property she set out in the exhibits for unlisted numbers, and did not award Mr. Penton all of the personal property that was used by him in B&B construction (the backhoe/.dirt business) 6. The Chancellor erred in allowing the marital property to be sold in the manner it was sold without any provisions to make sure the distribution of the proceeds from the sale were protected and debts on the property paid by the sale, and/ or not giving the parties any other alternative to sale the residence other than on the "Courthouse steps"

SUMMARY O F THE ARGUMENT

The essence of Mr. Penton's appeal to this Court centers around the manner in which the Chancellor divided the martial estate and the manner it which it determined the value to give each parties' entitlement to the marital property . Mr. Penton also takes issue as to who was awarded what principle assets. Mr. Penton also takes issue with the inconsistently applied criteria and mechanisms the Chancellor use to distribute each parties' portion of the marital property. The Chancellor did not follow the Ferguson Factors and seemed to disregard factors 6, 7, and 8.

In so doing Mr. Penton argues that the Chancellor only looked at the appraised value of the marital assets and completely ignored the income of the businesses as a factor in determining value and distribution. The Chancellor also did not take into account the the income that Mrs. Penton might have had from other sources, and if it did take that into account it was not apparent enough.

Mr. Penton also argues that the Chancellor granted Mrs. Penton certain credits and thereby raising the value she received from the marital estate and deducted certain value from Mr. Penton's portion of the marital estate thereby lowing the value that he was to receive. Mr. Penton argued that based on the totality of the circumstances and all the facts in the transcript, record, and exhibits of the Trial Court, the Chancellor 's manner of choosing particular deductions and credits was arbitrary and unfair. Mr. Penton argues that the Court should have used a uniform criteria when dealing with these various deductions and credits to and from the marital estate especially in light of the fact that the Chancellor himself itself found that an accounting in this situation would be impossible and not necessary and that both parties did things post-separation with the marital assets that were wrong.

Therefore, the Chancellor should have either deducted every single thing (value) which each party alleged the other party had taken or the parties admitted they had taken pre and post separation from the marital assets or found that it was impossible to determine fairly and taken nothing from either parties' marital value.

Mr. Penton would argue that although the Court did award Mr. Penton his business formerly known as B & B Construction and some assets it awarded Mrs. Penton her business, Unlimited Numbers, and awarded her <u>all</u> of her assets involved in the business. Mr. Penton believes that this was in arbitrary and unfair.

Additionally the Chancellor did not give any weight to the debt that remained on the assets which were to be distributed. He saw the debt saw as possible deduction in the value only and did not factor in the debt and income ratio that would exist with each asset in determining the who should be awarded what asset. As already pointed out, the Court also did not look at the income of each business and what they would possibly be producing along with each parties individual income to determine which assets should be awarded to which party.

Finally, the Chancellor choose ,without any discussion, or any alternative, found in the record, to order the marital residence valued at \$214,000.00, sold at a judicial sale on the Courthouse steps.

Mr. Penton would argue that the method the Chancellor chose to dispose of the marital residence was a harsh and that there were many other less harsh and punitive ways upon which the property could have been sold. The Chancellor should have ordered these methods first before resorting to the Judicial sale on the Courthouse steps. Mr. Penton's arguments as stated above primarily concern the fairness of the values and the manner in which the Court applied the criteria to the division which in many instances made the division arbitrary and unfair.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE PROCEEDING BELOW

Bruce H. Penton and Carol Annette Penton were married on July 13, 1980 in Pearl River County, Mississippi. They separated on November 24, 2004 in Pearl River County. (R. pgs. 4-5) That there were three children born to this marriage, namely, Bruce H. Penton, II, Crystal Darlene Penton, and Sarah Anne Penton, but at the time of the divorce, hearing none of the children were minors. (R. pg. 5)

The parties had a long term marriage and they had acquired numerous assets. In fact the Chancellor commented during in the Judgement that if the parties had stated

together in harmony that as far as their financial picture, the sky would have been the limit (R.pg. 103, 567)

Bruce H. Penton, Appellant, hereinafter referred to as "Bruce or Mr. Penton", filed for Divorce on January 18, 2005. In his Complaint he asked for a divorce on the grounds of Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment as set forth in Section 93-5-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended, or on the grounds of Irreconcilable Differences as set forth in Section 93-5-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. (R. pg 5)

Mr. Penton stated in his Complaint for Divorce that the separation of the parties was a direct and proximate cause of the conduct of the Defendant (R. pg 5)

Mr. Penton, stated in his Complaint that, during the marriage, the parties had acquired various assets and liabilities, and he asked that the Court should equitably divide these assets and liabilities and that Court should make any other orders necessary to effect such division. (R. pg. 5)

On April 20, 2005, Carol Annette Penton, the Defendant, filed her Answer to the Complaint for Divorce and Counterclaim. (R. pgs. 12-19)

Carol Annette Penton, Appellee, hereinafter referred to as "Carol Penton or Mrs. Penton "denied the date of separation or that the separation of the parties was the direct result of her conduct and instead alleged in her Counterclaim that the cause of the separation of the parties belonged to the Bruce Penton. Mrs. Penton denied Mr. Penton grounds for divorce, and denied that there should be an equitable distribution of the marital assets. (R pg. 13) Carol Annette Penton filed a Counterclaim. (R. pgs. 13-19). She alleged that the parties were separated on November 21, 2004, and that they have not lived together since that time. Defendant, Carol Annette Penton, also claimed that on November 24, 2004, the Plaintiff and not the Defendant left without just cause. Defendant/Counter-plaintiff also asserted that there were three children born of the marriage, but, as stated earlier, they were all adults at the time of the Trial on the merits. (R. pg. 14)

Mrs. Penton asked the Court to grant her use and occupancy of the marital home and furnishings and asked that the Court order the Bruce Penton to pay the note, taxes, and insurance on same. She also asked that the Court direct the Mr. Penton to pay alimony. (R. pgs. 15-16)

Mrs. Penton, in her Counterclaim, asked that Bruce Penton be required to pay all outstanding debts incurred during the marriage and to keep them current and to hold her harmless thereon. She also asked that Mr. Penton be ordered to pay all attorney's fees and costs of the proceeding. Mrs. Penton wanted Mr. Penton to be required to provide medical and dental insurance for her and that he be required to pay all medical, dental, eye care and drug bills not covered by insurance. (R. pg. 16)

In addition, Mrs. Penton requested that there be an injunction placed on the parties and that no assets at any time should be dispersed or transferred until the matter could be heard on the merits and that the indispensable and necessary parties that should be joined in this proceeding were B&B Construction Company, LLC, Crystal Clean Car Care, LLC, and Pine Haven Mobile Home Park, LLC. (R. pg. 22) She further stated that

the parties were equal owners of certain corporations and that she desired that all assets be liquidated and the moneys derived therefrom be deposited with the Chancery Clerk of Pearl River County, Mississippi, for disposition at a later date. (R. pg. 24)

On October 13, 2005, Carol Annette Penton, filed a Motion to Join Indispensable and Necessary Parties . (R. p. 22) In the Motion she stated that during the marriage the parties had acquired certain assets and converted said assets into the following corporation: B&B Construction Company, LLC; Crystal Clean Car Care, LLC, and Pine Haven Mobile Home Park, LLC . In her Motion she avers that the above corporations are necessary and indispensable parties to this proceeding and should be joined. Mrs. Penton stated that she and Mr. Penton were equal owners and shareholders in said corporations and that all of their assets should be liquidated and the moneys derived therefrom be deposited with the Chancery Clerk for later disposition. (R. p. 22).

That it would appear from the Record that no Order was entered joining any of the parties set out in Carol Annette Penton's Motion to Join Indispensable and Necessary Parties.

Discovery was filed by Bruce H. Penton on November 3,2005. (R pg. 26)

An Order was entered on July 20, 2006, appointing Colette A. Oldmixon Special Master It is interesting to note, that there is no Order of July 20, 2006, in the Record, however it is contained in one of the Exhibits. The July 20, 2006, was essentially the same as the September 5, 2006, Order which is set out below.

On September 5, 2006, the Court entered an Order stating that the Special Master

sought a clarification of the Order entered by this Court on July 20, 2006. That there appears to be no Order of July 20, 2006, in the record. However, there is some recitations in the September 5, 2006, Order which states that the July 20, 2006, Order gave Colette A. Oldmixon, the Special Master, authority to obtain appraisals on all the assets, both real and personal, of the parties as she deems necessary and to retain the services of a realtor, accountant and/or surveyor; and to have access to any and all financial records, business records, banking records, expense and income information, tax returns, both federal and state, contracts, equipment, investment records, portfolios, tenants, creditors, debtors, insurance policies, insurance claims, insurance proceeds and that the parties each should maintain insurance and pay taxes on the property and businesses until such time as they are sold and to effect any and all necessary repairs to the properties. (R. pg. 28) The Order of September 5, 2006, found that the parties shall cooperate and confer with the Special Master in producing materials, records, papers, documentation and information, all of which the Special Master would need to comply with the mandate of this Court set out on the Order of July 20, 2006. (R pg. 28-29) The parties were also directed to sign any and all authorizations to allow the Special Master to make inquiry of banking and financial institutions, insurance companies, employers and any and all other persons/entities with knowledge of the parties' assets, debts, liabilities and obligations.

That the parties shall deliver keys to the real properties to the Special Master so that she may have access to the properties of the parties for the purpose of inspection, appraisals, and the showing of any all properties for sale. (R. pg. 29) The Special Master was given authority to pay for all appraisals, surveys, accountants, and related expenses and to open an interest bearing checking account at First National Bank of Picayune in which she was to deposit any and all rental proceeds, business proceeds, sale proceeds and other moneys received pursuant to the directive of the July 20, 2006, Order and from which all disbursements shall be made in payment of any and all debts, liabilities and obligations associated with the parties assets. (R. pg. 29)

Finally, the Special Master was given authority, in connection with the businesses and the rental properties, to file suit and/or take other legal action/recourse as may be necessary to protect said businesses and rental properties until such time as the properties are sold. (R. pgs., 29-30)

That the Special Master issued numerous Subpoena Duces Tecums to Banks and financial institutions, requesting records concerning the parties and all of the businesses they were involved in, in any way. (R. pgs 31-44)

On April 19, 2007, Carol Penton filed a Motion for Contempt and Accounting, asking that Bruce Penton be held in contempt and alleged that he had disposed of certain assets and had not given an accounting for the business know as B&B Construction. Mrs. Penton also alleged that Bruce Penton had not given an accounting of rental income from the marital residence. (R p. 50-51)

Interestingly, the Special Master followed up with a letter in the record dated May 8, 2007 requesting that Bruce Penton provide information and documentation on the items Mrs. Penton's listed in her Motion for Contempt and other information divided into the needed information into nine categories

A hearing was held on this matter on May 23, 2007, on Defendant Motion for Contempt and Accounting and addressed not only the issues Defendant raised as to documentation and information, but all of the issues and concerns of the Special Master listed in her May 8, 2007, letter in the record. (R. p. 67)

The Order stated that, in addition to ordering Mr. Penton to provide certain information and documentation, Mr. Penton should, by June 1st, provide answers and documents to prior requests by the Special Master . Should the Special Master have any additional questions as to the information provided by Mr. Penton, then these questions should also be responded to by June 1, 2007, so long as the questions from the Special Master are provided to the Plaintiff in sufficient time for the Plaintiff and his Counsel to prepare responses by June 1, 2007. (R. p. 68)

The Order also set out certain directions to the parties, concerning their purchase of real property from the "martial estate", and granted the Special Master the power to sell the real properties not closed on as agreed, without any notice to either party. Further the Court ordered Mr. Penton to provide the list of real properties he desired to purchase from the marital estate by June 1, 2007. The one acre located on Old Highway 26 was excluded as the Defendant had already notified the Special Master of her intent to purchase that property (R. p. 67-68)

The Plaintiff, Mr. Penton, responded to all of the requests for information and

documents, and these responses and documentation are contained in Exhibit "3" of the Record. There is another packet of information provided on June 1, 2007, to the Special Master by Plaintiff's Counsel which is very germane to this matter, and was contained in the Exhibits provided to the Court and Court reporter as part of the Record on appeals, but does not appear to be marked. It is Mr. Penton's 8.1 financial affidavit, his personal income tax returns for 2006, his business tax returns, his asset list for B& B Construction, which apparently was no longer B&B construction as it had been dissolved at the end of 2004, and his list of concerns about things he felt Mrs Penton had done with some of the marital property beginning right before the separation of the parties through June 1, 2007.(Exhibit 3)

That on July 25, 2007, a hearing was held on the Motion of the Special Master regarding her report filed on or about June, 27, 2007. The Order stated that the Special Master had filed her report, which included numerous detailed exhibits and an affidavit. Exhibit O of the Special Master's report, detailed her time, activities and out of pocket expenses. The Court found that the Special Master was entitled to a fee in the sum total of Ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) and was to be reimbursed for out of pocket expenses in the sum of One thousand, one hundred, fifty- five dollars and three cents (\$1,155.03). The Court further found that the Master's report should be accepted, and Ms. Oldmixon should be relieved of any further obligation. However, the Special Master was directed to be available to testify and otherwise assist the Court at the trial on the merits of this matter. (R. pgs. 72-73)

Further, in this Order the trial was set on the merits for September 11, 2007, at 9:00 a.m. in Poplarville, MS. (R. p 73)

That all funds left, after the Special Master paid her fees and reimbursed herself for expenses, were found to be the sum of Forty five dollars (\$45.00) and were deposited in the Master's account and were to be deposited into the Court registry on July 25, 2007.

On September 11, 2007, the Trial was held. The parties agreed to proceed on a divorce on the grounds of Irreconcilable Differences and a Motion to Withdraw Fault Grounds, an Order Dismissing Fault Grounds was entered into the Court Record and filed. (R. pgs. 79-82)

In addition, Bruce Penton's Financial Affidavit and full income tax returns for 2006 were filed in the record. (R. pgs. 83-102)

The trial lasted a day and the Master's Report was accepted by the Court.

The Judgment of Divorce was handed down by Judge James H. C. Thomas on the 27th day of September, 2007. The Court found that there were no issues involving custody or child support as all the children were over the age of twenty one (21). The Judgment went on to cite that Colette Oldmixon had been appointed as Special Master to inventory, value and manage the marital assets of the parties which consisted of several investments, interests in real property, personal property and ongoing business interests. Her report was entered into the record as Exhibit 1 and consisted of a composite of her total work and documentation.

The Court found that the martial assets of the parties consisted of the following:

1. One acre of land in Poplarville, Mississippi valued at Eight thousand four hundred dollars (\$8,400.00)

2. Homestead at 458 White Chapel Road with a house valued at \$214,000.00 with two mortgages totaling 99, 593.75 with equity of 114,406.25.

3. Crystal Clean Car Care, LLC. appraised value of 331,640.00 with an indebtedness of \$113,227.41 to Hancock Bank allowing for the indebtedness to Hancock Bank which gave the car wash an equitable value of \$218,412.59.

4. Pine Haven Mobile Home Park, in Carriere, Mississippi. This was a trailer park on which eleven trailers_sat on 21.5 acres of real property jointly owned by the parties located with no indebtedness on the property at all. The appraised value of that piece of property was \$264,500.00.

5. The home at 41 Minnie Penton Road was determined to be heirs' property and was not marital.

The Court listed nine items which were discussed in detail in the arguments. In the items of personalty the Court also listed Super Sara's Snowball, LLC, which the Court said was owned by the daughter, Crystal Penton; B& B Construction with numerous items of equipment itemized by the Special Master as Exhibit E. The Court found that this business whether or not it was still called B&B, at this time, was the Defendant's source of income and livelihood. Further, that Unlimited Numbers, a tax preparation business, operated as a sole proprietorship by Defendant, with numerous items of equipment as itemized by the Special Master as Exhibit F, was a source of income for the Defendant. The Court found as per the Special Master's Report that there were other items of concern , being the actions of the parties in handling the joint fund after the separation. The Court found that the Special Master reported that Mr. Penton took seven thousand dollars (\$7,000.00) in cash from the home of the parties and two thousand five hundred (\$2,500.00) from a credit line account, totaling \$9,500.00. The Court found that Mrs. Penton took Five thousand dollars in cash and sold items of joint property totaling \$7,100.00. The Court also found that Mr. Penton had transferred a balance of ten thousand nine hundred dollars (\$10,900.00) from two Chase credit cards to the Bank of America card in the Defendant's name. Finally, the Court found that Mr. Penton had received, but left unaccounted for, rental income of twelve thousand one hundred dollars (\$12,100.00) from White Chapel Road joint property, following the separation.. Exhibit K. (R. p 106)

The Court found that the real property located at 214 Haugh Street was sold by the Special Master realizing proceeds of \$20,338.84 to each party. The Court went on to find that Mrs. Penton had managed the trailer park property and utilized insurance monies as outlined in Exhibit L of the Special Master's report. The Special Master received funds from Allstate Insurance Company proceeds which were allocated and spent as detailed in Exhibit M. of her report. (R. p 106)

The Court found from examining the financial declarations of each party that Mr. Penton was primarily engaged in activities with B & B Construction as his source of income, making about \$1,800.00 per month, and Mrs. Penton operated Unlimited Numbers, her tax service business, with an annual income of \$21,000.00. The Court also mentioned other income including rental incomes from the trailer park, and other matters. The Court found that both parties failed to accurately report to each other, to the Special Master or to the Court their financial dealings post separation and all that was left was a convoluted financial scene for division between the Plaintiff and Defendant. The Court further found that the parties had manipulated joint use of accounts following their separation, Exhibit N of the Special Master's composite Exhibit. (R. p 106)

The Court therefore found that an accounting was not practical in view of the use each has made of the accounts and not required in making an equitable distribution of the properties.

Finally, the Court found that each operated financially independent from the other at this point in time.

The Court found that the martial properties of the parties consisted of the marital home, the one acre of land, the trailer park, and the carwash with a total equitable value of \$635,718.00. Also found to be marital property were a variety of old vehicles, equipment of various description, and other items associated with the businesses established by the parties. The Court found that each party is then entitled to a value of \$317.859.00 in marital assets, subject to their post separation use of marital assets described below.

The Court found that the items listed in a. through l. above are marital properties, together with the numerous items of personalty associated with the operations of the

businesses of the parties as detailed in the Special Master's report.

The Court, accordingly, found that each party was entitled to an equal portion of the total accumulation of property subject to adjustments for their activities in accessing martial assets during the period after their separation when they each surreptitiously accessed marital assets

The Court then went on to state its findings as to deductions from the martial estate for the parties. According to the Court, Mrs. Penton took cash and sold items totaling \$7,100.00, for which the Plaintiff is owed an accounting. In turn, the Court found that Mr. Penton took \$9,500.00, and received rents totaling \$12,100.00 unaccounted for. He then went on to find that Mrs. Penton would have been entitled to one half the rent or \$6,050.00 which brings Mr. Penton's total to \$15,550.00. The Court then went on to find that Mrs. Penton vas entitled to a credit for \$10,900.00 because Mr. Penton transferred to her credit card account bill from joint credit card accounts which she has to pay. The Chancellor then went on to say that, considering Mrs. Penton's use of the \$7,100.00, she is entitled to an offset against Mr. Penton's interest in the marital assets of \$19,350.00 giving Mr. Penton a total interest of \$298,239.00, and the Defendant an interest of \$336,939.00.

The Court found that the distribution should be as follows: Mrs. Penton would be awarded the simple ownership of the Pine Haven Mobile Home Park with the trailers situated on same and the one acre of land in Popularville totaling a value of \$272,900.00. That Mr. Penton was awarded the Carwash property with all personal items associated thereto with equipment for a value of \$218,412.00. Both parties were to assume all indebtedness on the their respective properties.

The Court went on to find that the homestead at 458 White Chapel Road shall be sold valued at \$214,000.00. That after the debt and the expenses for the sale were deducted the Defendant was awarded the first \$64,039.00 of the net sale proceeds , and the Plaintiff was awarded the balance . The Court then stated that this would round out the equitable distribution of the martial assets. (R. p 108)

Of the personal property items listed, a. through l. above, Mrs. Penton was awarded ownership of the 2002 Avalanche vehicle, Bo Penton was awarded the 1984 Mack truck, Crystal Penton, their daughter, was awarded the Winnebago and all items associated with Super Sara's Snowballs. Mr. Penton was awarded ownership of B & B Construction Company and all items of equipment associated therewith. Mrs. Penton was awarded ownership of Unlimited Numbers with all items of equipment associated therein. The 1994 KW W90 DS truck and other vehicles listed as i., above, were awarded to Mr. Penton. Finally, the Court found that each party is awarded all those items of personal property now in his or her possession. (R. p 108)

The Court found that the 1992 Harley Davidson motorcycle and the 1972 American Cam trailer were directed to be sold with the proceeds utilized to pay administrative costs of this Court action, including any unpaid costs of the Special Master and costs that the Clerk might encounter. The Court further found that the Clerk of this Court shall be directed to conduct the sale of the homestead property and the personalty as provided for in a Sheriffs Sale in execution of judgments, Section 13-3-161 et. seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. Any funds remaining after the costs of the sale and payment to the Special Master shall be paid equally to the Plaintiff and the Defendant. No alimony was awarded, and the parties were to pay their own attorneys fees.

The Court finally found that the bonds of matrimony existing between the Plaintiff, Bruce H. Penton, and Defendant, Carol Annette Penton, are set aside and held for naught and the parties are divorced on the grounds of Irreconcilable Differences. (R. p 109)

On October 18, 2007, the Court entered an Order of Clarification in this matter. (R. p 110). In the Order for Clarification, the Court set out that the Judgment of Divorce was entered on September 17, 2008. That in addition to granting the divorce and dividing certain assets, the Court instructed the Chancery Clerk of Pearl River County, Mississippi, David Earl Johnson, to perform certain functions of the Court, pursuant to Section 13-31-61, Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated. The Court then directed the Chancery Clerk of Pearl River County to conduct the sale of the marital homestead located at 458 White Chapel Road. The Court ordered that out of the sale price, less outstanding indebtedness, Carol Annette Penton is to be paid the first \$64,039.00 and Bruce Penton is to receive the remaining balance, after again, outstanding indebtedness is paid and the cost of selling the martial home and the Clerk's fees if any. The Chancery Clerk of Pearl River County was then ordered to seize and to sell the 1992 Harley Davidson motorcycle and the 1972 American Cam trailer, with the proceeds to be utilized as stated in the judgment. The Court authorized and ordered the Chancery Clerk of Pearl River County to execute any necessary documents to transfer title and ownership pursuant to this Judgment. (R. p 111)

On November 9, 2007, a Motion for Contempt was filed by Mrs. Penton stating that the 1972 American Cam trailer and the 1992 Harley Davidson motorcycle could not be seized. (R. p. 112) Although this would appear to be a post trial matter and not a subject of this appeal, the pleading were contained in the Record. The Notice of Appeal was filed on November 16, 2007. (R. p. 116-126)

Again, the pleading in the record may also be the subject of post trial motions which are presently not appealable. However, in the interest of the issues that have ensued and because these matters were contained in the record, Bruce Penton will mention that the sale was advertised in the paper as allowed by law to be sold on the 7th day of December, 2007, between the hours of 11:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. on the steps of the Pearl River County Courthouse in Poplarville, Mississippi. (R. p 127)

Finally in the record is contained a listing of the Report and Accounting of the Special Commissioner. Interestingly enough it sets out that cash received from the sale by the Special Commissioner for house and land was Six thousand dollars (\$6,000.00) and was received on December 20, 2007. It does not state whether or not any of the indebtedness was paid on the marital home or what else might have ensued. Mr. Penton would state that these post trial matters have created some problems which we will

address briefly in this appeal and Appellant pursues same at the trial Court level

ARGUEMENT

I. GENERAL STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or applied an erroneous legal standard. *Flechas v. Flechas*, 791 So.2d 295, 299(¶ 7) (Miss.Ct.App.2001). The Court has repeatedly stated : "We are required to respect the chancellor's findings of fact that are supported by credible evidence and not manifestly wrong. *Sandlin v. Sandlin*, 699 So.2d 1198, 1203 (Miss.1997). Nonetheless, if manifest error is present or a legal standard is misapplied, this Court will not hesitate to reverse. *Tilley v. Tilley*, 610 So.2d 348, 351 (Miss.1992).

II. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN HIS EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION OF THE MARITAL PROPERTY GENERALLY

A. FERGUSON GENERALLY:

Before the Court can equitably distribute the marital property, it must first

determine what property is marital and what property is non-marital.

For purposes of divorce proceedings, the marital estate consists of property acquired or accumulated by the parties during the course of the marriage. *Hemsley v. Hemsley*, 639 So.2d 909, 915 (Miss.1994). Marital property so defined is subject to equitable distribution at the time of divorce. *Id.* Assets which are attributable to one of the parties' separate estates prior to or outside the marriage is non-marital property and not subject to equitable division. *Id.* at 914.

Hankins v. Hankins, 866 So.2d 508, 511 (Miss.App. 2004)

Page 20 of 48

In the Penton's, case the Court stated in the Judgement that the marital property consisted of the marital home located on White Chapel Road and valued at \$214,000.00 with equity of \$114,406.25; the one acre of land located in Poplarville Mississippi, valued at \$8,200.00; Crystal Clean Car Wash, LLC, with an appraised value of \$331,640.00 and an equitable value of \$218,412.59; and Pine Haven Mobile Home Park with a value of \$264,500.00 . The Court found that the total value of these four items was \$635,718.00 (R. pg 107(571))

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