SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-02046

BRUCE H. PENTON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAROL ANNETTE PENTON

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT
PEARL RIVER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE:

JAMES R. HAYDEN
ATTORNEY AT LAW
105 FORD DRIVE
PETAL, MS 39465
601-545-2322
FAX: 601-544-8146
MS STATE BAR NO [REDACTED]

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-02046

BRUCE H. PENTON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAROL ANNETTE PENTON

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT
PEARL RIVER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE:

JAMES R. HAYDEN
ATTORNEY AT LAW

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

ARGUMENT

The main area of appeal of the Appellant is that the lower Court did not follow Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d at 928, in dividing the marital assets. Nothing could be further from the truth. Careful reading of the Judgment of Divorce shows that the two cases used by the Chancellor was Hemsley v. Hemsley, 639 So. 2d 909, 915 (Miss. 1994) and Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d at 928. The parties agreed to proceed for divorce on irreconcilable differences. A Motion to Withdraw Fault Grounds and an Order to Withdraw Fault Grounds was filed. The Master's report was entered into evidence without objections on September 11, 2007. The lower Court rendered its Judgment on the September 27, 2007 Exhibit K (r-106). The appellants Notice of Appeal was not filed until November 16, 2007 beyond the deadline for filing an appeal. The Appellants appeal on the Judgment of Divorce should be dismissed. An Order of Clarification was filed October 18, 2007. If the Appellant is appealing the Order of Clarification then the filing of this appeal is timely, and should be limited only two issues raised by the Order of Clarification. The Order of Clarification directed the Chancery Clerk of Pearl River County, Mississippi pursuant to Section 13-31-620 (Miss. 1972, Annotated) to sale the marital

home and instructed the Clerk to transfer titles to certain vehicles to the respective parties.

Assets acquired during the marriage and marital property subject to equitable division, as can be shown by proof that such assets are not separate assets acquired prior to the marriage or outside the marriage Hemsley v. Hemsley, 639 So. 2d, 909, 915 (Miss. 1994), a marital presumptions attached to property acquired during the marriage Maslowski v. Maslowski, 655 So. 2d, 1820 (Miss. 1995).

Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So. 2d, 1289 (Miss. 1994) directs the lower Court to first classify the property and to determine property capable of equitable division.

Chancellor's in Mississippi have authority to Order equitable divisions of assets that are jointly owned and accumulated property regardless of the former title. Appellee submits that the lower Court followed the ruling of Brooks v. Brooks, 652 So. 2d, 113, 121 (Miss. 1995). The Appellee submits that the lower Court followed the eight guidelines in Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d at 928. The lower Court found as a matter of fact the evaluation of all the marital property introduced into evidence by the report of the Special Master was without objections, and

accurate. One of the basic principals underlining equitable distribution of assets is that if it is acquired by either spouse during the marriage it is considered marital property Anl, Inc. v. Grantham, 747 So. 2d, 832, 839 (Miss. 1999). The lower Court followed the existing laws in the State of Mississippi to the letter. In fact the lower Court went one step further and appointed a Special Master to accumulate, evaluate, itemize, and present to the Court all assets acquired during the marriage, how they were acquired, and the outstanding indebtedness, and the income produced by the assets. Including the parties separate businesses. The Master special report was introduced into evidence by agreement of the parties with no objections from the Appellant or the Appellee. In addition thereto, there were no objections by the Appellant to any of the findings, facts, and conclusion reached by the Special Master nor did the Appellant introduce or attempt to introduce any other evidence in regards to his position in the divorce. Now he complains. The way in which assets are to be divided is up to the discretion of the Chancellor Owen v. Owen, 798 So. 2d, 939 and Davis v. Davis, 638 So. 2d, 1288 (Miss. 1994), Holland v. Holland 784 So. 2d, 943, 946 (Miss. 2001), Department of Human Services v. Marshall, 859 So. 2d, 387, 389 (Miss. 2003) limit's the standard of review to be used in

determining whether the lower Court made a corrective decision or not.

The Court must find that the facts and findings by the Chancellor was manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous or the Chancellor abused his discretion. The lower Court did neither.

The Appellant did not appeal supersedes and so therefore the marital home has been sold and title to changed an innocent purchaser for value. Title to all other properties have already been vested in the parties to whom it had been awarded by the Chancellor. The title to all vehicles have been transferred pursuant to Court order. The issues raised by the Appellant is now moot. The lower Courts opinion has no reversible error and the Chancellor's decisions must be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The lower Court ruling is without error. The Appellant did not appeal Supersedas, therefore title to sale property has been transferred pursuant to Court Order. Appellant issues are moot.